#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

No. S221980

BARBARA LYNCH and THOMAS FRICK, Petitioners,

v.

CALIFORNIA COASTAL COMMISSION, Respondent.

After an Opinion by the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division One (Case No. D064120) SUPREME COURT
FILED

MAR 1 1 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy CRC

8.25(b)

On Appeal from the Superior Court of San Diego County (Case No. 37-2011-00058666-CU-WM-NC, Honorable Earl Maas III, Judge)

#### PETITIONERS' OPENING BRIEF

JONATHAN C. CORN,

No. 156983

Axelson & Corn, P.C. 160 Chesterfield Drive

Suite 201

Cardiff by the Sea, CA 92007

Telephone: (760) 944-9006

Facsimile: (760) 454-1886

#### ISSUES PRESENTED IN PETITION

- 1. If a property owner has satisfied all the statutory requirements for challenging an unlawful permit condition, including exhausting administrative remedies and filing a timely and valid challenge to the condition in court, has the owner thereby preserved her right to judicial review of that challenge?
- 2. The Coastal Act, as interpreted by the Sixth District Court of Appeal in *Ocean Harbor House Homeowners Association v. California Coastal Commission*, 163 Cal. App. 4th 215, 242 (2008), mandates issuance of a permit for a protective device necessary to safeguard one's property against erosion, subject only to conditions that mitigate identified impacts on public resources that the structure causes. *See* Pub. Res. Code § 30235. In addition, the Federal unconstitutional-conditions doctrine requires that permit conditions burdening a property right or interest bear an "essential nexus" to—*i.e.*, mitigate—identified impacts on public resources caused by the proposed use of the property (*e.g.*, proposed protection of the property via installation of a protective device). *See Koontz v. St. Johns River Water Management Dist.*, 133 S. Ct. 2586 (2013); *Nollan v. California Coastal Commission*, 483 U.S. 825, 837 (1987).

Do the Coastal Act and the Federal unconstitutional-conditions doctrine therefore prohibit a permitting agency from imposing conditions that are designed, not to mitigate identified impacts of a protective device, but to expand regulatory authority for its own sake? 3. Does a property owner's statutory right to replace a structure destroyed by a disaster without a permit (Pub. Res. Code § 30610(g)) preempt local policies that purport to strip her of that right?

#### INTRODUCTION

At the outset, this case concerns the right to judicial review of permitting decisions of the California Coastal Commission. The Petitioners, Barbara Lynch and Thomas Frick (the "Homeowners"), sought approval for a Coastal Development Permit (CDP) to replace an aging seawall that is necessary to protect their homes. The permit was ultimately granted, but with two conditions. One of the conditions provided that the seawall permit would expire in 20 years, and at that future time the Homeowners would need to apply for another approval, *or remove the protective seawall*. The second condition required that the Homeowners delete from the plans any reconstruction of a shared stairway (the only route down the bluff from the homes to the beach), even though the stairway was partially destroyed by heavy rains that caused collapse of an upper portion of the bluff.

The Homeowners formally objected to the conditions in writing and orally at the hearing on their permit application. Having met the requirements of an aggrieved party under Public Resources Code § 30801, the Homeowners pursued their right to judicial review by timely filing a petition for writ of mandate in accordance with Section 1094.5 of the Code of Civil Procedure.

Despite following all legal requirements, and exhausting all administrative remedies, the Court of Appeal ruled that the Homeowners waived their right to judicial review by complying with the Commission's additional requirement that the Homeowners record an irrevocable "deed restriction." By recording the deed restriction, potential future purchasers of property are informed of the Commission's decision and its conditions.

The trial court found there was no waiver of the right to challenge the conditions because the Homeowners "neither specifically agreed to the conditions nor failed to challenge their validity." Joint Appendix (JA) 101 (minute order, 12/21/2012). The Court of Appeal reversed, over a dissent, holding that unless the Homeowners refuse to comply with the conditions, including refusing to sign the deed restriction, they cannot proceed to seek judicial review. However the facts and the case law do not support the Court of Appeal's conclusion. For reasons set forth below, and as ruled by the trial court and supported by the dissent below, this Court should conclude there has been no waiver of the right to judicial review. Accordingly, the Court should then proceed to the merits of the lawfulness of the two conditions, as presented in Issues 2 and 3 set forth above.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## A. General Factual Background

The Homeowners are neighbors, each owning an adjacent residential parcel located atop an 80-foot oceanfront bluff in Encinitas, California. Administrative Record (AR) 61. The properties consist of three distinct areas, specifically, (1) the blufftop area which is developed with their respective homes, (2) the steep coastal bluff that for over 40 years has been improved with a shared stairway down to the beach, and (3) the sandy beach area from the toe of the bluff to the mean high-tide line. AR 1660. The shared stairway connects the homes to the beach area below.

The stairs were built prior to enactment of the Coastal Zone Conservation Act of 1972. AR 380, 2328. In 1973, the stairway partially collapsed and was reconstructed under a permit issued by County of San Diego. AR 380-84. The stairs have been regularly used and maintained and provide the only direct access to the beach portion of the property. JA 201. Homeowner Barbara Lynch is now over 80 years old and cannot physically go to the nearest public access stairway half mile away and walk to her own property. AR 2275. Without the stairs, beach access to the Homeowners is effectively denied. AR 2329.

Since 1986, the properties have been protected by a 100-foot wide beach-level seawall, consisting of wood poles embedded in the sand and

cabled to the bluff. The properties were further protected by a mid-bluff wall consisting of railroad ties and supporting timber poles and secured to the bluff to retain the earth material from sloughing off. In an after-the-fact permitting application, the Commission in 1989 determined that the seawall system and stairway were consistent with the Coastal Act and issued a CDP authorizing their continued use. That permit had no expiration date. AR 2-22, 1690.

# B. The City Approves the New Seawall and Repair of the Stairway

In 2003, the Homeowners applied to the City of Encinitas to replace the aging wooden seawall with a state-of-the-art, textured concrete seawall system that included structural tiebacks and mid-bluff geogrid protection. AR 38-39, 870. In order to build the seawall, the lower portion of the stairway would have to be temporarily removed.

After considerable delays, the City in 2009 ultimately voted unanimously to approve the application. The City found the project was consistent with its Local Coastal Program (LCP) as well as the policies of its General Plan and Municipal Code. AR 1844. As to the stairway, the City's Resolution states:

A stairway currently exists on the bluff face and will **remain**. However, portions of the stairwell most adjacent to the existing mid-bluff retaining wall and lower seawall will be removed as necessary to allow for the installation of the proposed improvements and will be replaced to its original configuration

with the same materials, dimensions, and colors once the construction of the shotcrete walls are completed.

AR 1849 (emphasis added).

## C. The Commission Reviews the Permit Application

After securing approval from the City of Encinitas, the Homeowners' project still could not be built. The application was technically an amendment to the 1989 seawall permit issued by the Commission, and therefore the Homeowners also needed Commission approval. Unfortunately, while the application was pending before the Commission, a series of strong winter storms hit Southern California, depositing significant rainfall and causing major property damage along the coast. AR 2347-48. President Obama declared San Diego County an emergency disaster relief area. JA at 130-32. On December 24, 2010, in the immediate aftermath of heavy rainfall, the Homeowners' bluff suffered a significant collapse in the area above and through the mid-bluff protection system. AR 1579, 2255 (photos). The result was to destroy much of the existing mid-bluff protection and the lower portion of the stairway. AR 408-09, 421-31, 1690.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The City of Encinitas has a certified LCP and the project is within the City's permit jurisdiction. However, because the project is an amendment to a previously approved CDP issued by the Commission, the Commission also has jurisdiction over the project and in its review applies the certified Encinitas LCP and the public access and recreation policies of Chapter 3 of the Coastal Act. AR 1680.

After several delays and two prior staff reports, the Commission staff published its third and final staff report on July 11, 2011. Staff Report No. 3 discussed the adverse impacts of seawalls as generally being (1) physical occupation of beach area, (2) long-term beach loss, and (3) entrapment of bluff sand. AR 1702. With regard to the specific adverse impacts of the Homeowners' project, the Commission found that general impacts (1) and (2) were not present because the new seawall "expos[es] approximately 425 sq. ft. of additional beach area." AR 1715. Additional beach area would open up because the existing seawall was located **inland** of the mean high-tide line (on the Homeowners' private property) and the new seawall would be located even **further inland**. The Commission explained the importance of this fact as follows:

In cases where the seawall is located on the public beach, appropriate mitigation could be installation of public access/recreational improvements and/or creation of additional public beach area in close proximity to the impacted beach area.

. . . .

However, in this particular case, the proposed seawall will not be located directly on public beach, but rather will be located upland of the mean high tide. In fact, the proposed project places the seawall as far as approximately eight ft. landward of the originally approved seawall, which creates the potential for additional beach to become available to the public and is a significant reason for approving the proposed 100 ft. wall that includes protecting 1520 Neptune Avenue, rather than

only approving the smaller 50 linear ft. portion below 1500 Neptune Avenue.

#### AR 1715.

This is in contrast with most seawall applications in that area. As acknowledged by the Commission, "Unlike the subject application request, most if not all of the seawall applications approved by the Commission in Encinitas and nearby Solana Beach have been located on the public beach, seaward of the mean high tide line." AR 1714 (emphasis added). Accordingly, there is no identified adverse impact on public access or recreational uses resulting from the Homeowners' project.

According to the Commission's Technical Services Division, the seawall will not directly impede the public access or recreational uses typically considered by the Commission over its 20 year authorization period because there will be no direct encroachment of the proposed development onto public beach area.

#### AR 1715-16.

The general impact of sand loss resulting from seawalls is addressed through a sand loss mitigation fee which the Homeowners do not challenge. Similarly, any adverse visual impacts of the seawall are also mitigated, especially as compared to the old seawall. As explained by the Commission:

One of the principal reasons for approving the entire 100 ft. seawall is the improved visual character of the wall.... To mitigate the visual impacts of the proposed seawall, the applicants propose to color and texture the seawall. The visual treatment proposed is similar to visual treatment approved by the Commission in recent years.... Today, seawalls typically

involve sculpted and colored concrete that upon completion more closely mimic the natural surface of the lower bluff face.

AR 1721.

As the Commission admits, the state-of-the-art seawall "has been designed and conditioned to mitigate its impact on coastal resources such as scenic quality, geologic concerns, and shoreline sand supply." AR 1679 (see also Dissenting slip op. at 15).

### D. The Commission Imposes the Unlawful Conditions

Despite these findings and mitigation measures, the Commission approved the seawall project with Special Conditions 2 and 3 which require that the permit **expire in 20 years**. AR 1682-83. The basis for the condition was explained in the staff report:

To ensure that this project does not prejudice future shoreline planning options, including with respect to changing and uncertain circumstances that may ultimately change policy and other coastal development decisions (including not only climate change and sea level rise, but also due to legislative change, judicial determinations, etc.), staff recommends that this approval be conditioned for a twenty-year period.

AR 1709-10 (emphasis added).

In short, the Commission is asserting broad power to apply **future** policy changes that are unknown and uncertain. The trial court rejected the expiration condition, insightfully acknowledging that "the 20 year limit is simply a power grab designed to obtain further concessions in 20 years, or force the removal of seawalls at a later time." JA 204.

The Homeowners contend that this condition does not mitigate an identified adverse impact and therefore is unlawful under the Coastal Act, specifically Public Resource Code § 30235, as well as the Federal unconstitutional-conditions doctrine. While the Commission admittedly has significant power to impose conditions to mitigate actual and identified adverse impacts, requiring the expiration of permits so that it can start the process anew, and apply unknown and different policies to a then-existing seawall is a startling—and unlawful—extension of power.

The Commission also adopted Special Condition 1.a., which required the Homeowners to delete from the final plans any repair of the lower portion of the stairway. AR 1681. Despite approval of the stairway by the City of Encinitas, the Commission applied the Encinitas policies and regulations differently, thereby rejecting the proposal to repair the stairway. This left the Homeowners with a partial stairway down the bluff, dangling at the midpoint. AR 1579 (photo).

## E. Procedural Background

The Homeowners timely filed a petition for writ of mandate on October 7, 2011. JA 2. The petition challenges the lawfulness of the 20-year permit expiration (Special Conditions 2 and 3) and the denial of the stairway repair (Special Condition 1.a.). No other challenges to the Commission's decision were alleged. JA 4-5.

As required by Special Condition 17, the Homeowners recorded their respective identical deed restrictions on September 30, 2011 (JA 45), and November 23, 2011 (JA 24). Shortly thereafter, on December 6, 2011, the Commission confirmed that the requirements for issuance of the permit had been completed and provided its Notice of Acceptance so that the final permit could issue and the seawall could be constructed. JA 65.

The Commission filed its Answer approximately six months later, June 6, 2012, and asserted typical affirmative defenses, but did not allege that the deed restrictions were a waiver of the right to judicial review. JA 8-9. Eventually, on October 20, 2012, the Commission filed its motion contending that the deed restriction and construction of the seawall by the Homeowners resulted in a waiver of the right to judicial review of the two challenged permit conditions.

The trial court rejected the Commission's motion and found that the Homeowners had not waived their right to review. On the merits, the trial court ruled in favor of the Homeowners and invalidated both conditions. In a split decision, the Court of Appeal reversed and this Court subsequently granted the Petition for Review.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The first question presented is whether the Homeowners waived their right to judicial review. This Court reviews "the trial court's finding of waiver under the deferential 'substantial evidence' standard." *Bickel v. City of* 

Piedmont, 16 Cal. 4th 1040, 1053 (1997). As stated by this Court: "We must therefore view the evidence in the light most favorable to the prevailing party, giving it the benefit of every reasonable inference and resolving all conflicts in its favor in accordance with the standard of review so long adhered to by this court." *Id.* (quoting *Jessup Farms v. Baldwin*, 33 Cal. 3d 639, 660 (1983)).

With respect to the lawfulness of the conditions themselves, there are no disputed facts. Accordingly, the legality of the conditions present questions of law that are reviewed *de novo*. "[T]he application of . . . statutory provisions to undisputed facts" triggers de novo review; deference to the Commission is inappropriate. *Silvers v. Board of Equalization*, 188 Cal. App. 4th 1215, 1219 (2010). "A court does not, in other words, defer to an agency's view when deciding whether a regulation lies within the scope of the authority delegated by the Legislature." *Schneider v. California Coastal Commission*, 140 Cal. App. 4th 1339, 1344 (2006).

#### **ARGUMENT**

I

## SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDING THAT THERE WAS NO WAIVER OF THE RIGHT OF JUDICIAL REVIEW

# A. There Was No Intent To Relinquish the Right to Judicial Review

It is well established that waiver is the intentional relinquishment of a known right. *Bickel*, 16 Cal. 4th at 1048. "To constitute a waiver, there must be an existing right, knowledge of the right, and an actual intention to relinquish the right." *Id.* at 1053. "Waiver always rests upon intent." *City of Ukiah v. Fones*, 64 Cal. 2d 104, 107 (1966).

Because waiver rests upon intent, it is necessarily a factual question for determination by the trial court. *Bickel*, 16 Cal. 4th at 1052. Here, the trial court correctly found there was no waiver of the right to judicial review of the permit conditions. As ruled by the trial court, the Homeowners "neither specifically agreed to the conditions nor failed to challenge their validity." JA 101 (minute order, 12/21/2012).

Substantial evidence supports the trial court's finding. In sharp contrast to the cases relied upon by the Commission in the lower court, the Homeowners here properly and timely filed their petition for writ of mandate.

Rather than ignoring or waiving their right to judicial review, the Homeowners

Affirmatively exercised that right! This is not a situation where the Homeowners are seeking to collaterally challenge the conditions because they failed to properly file a petition for writ of mandate. Rather, the Homeowners have opposed these two specific conditions from the outset, objected at the hearing and in writing, and pursued their legal remedy in the manner required by the law. These actions provide ample basis for the trial court to conclude there was no intent by the Homeowners to relinquish their right to judicial review.

# B. The Deed Restriction Does Not Support the Commission's Waiver Argument

# 1. The Severability Clause Expressly Provides for Invalidation of the Special Conditions

The Commission relies on the deed restriction to contend that the Homeowners waived their right to challenge the conditions. A careful reading of the deed restriction reveals no such intent. The deed restriction is located in the record at JA 24-26. Significantly, Paragraph V expressly incorporates the Special Conditions as part of the deed restriction. The language states:

WHEREAS... the Commission conditionally approved coastal development permit number 6-88-464-A2... subject to, among other conditions, the conditions listed under the heading "Special Conditions" in the Notice of Intent To Issue Permit dated August 31, 2011, attached hereto as EXHIBIT B and incorporated herein by reference (hereafter referred to as the "Special Conditions)....

JA 24-25 (emphasis added). Having incorporated the Special Conditions as part of the deed restriction, the document then expressly acknowledges that "any provision" may be held to be invalid. The concluding paragraph of the deed restriction states:

If any provision of these restrictions is held to be invalid, or for any reason becomes unenforceable, no other provision shall be affected or impaired.

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