In the Supreme Court of the State of California

BARBARA LYNCH and THOMAS FRICK,

Plaintiffs and Respondents,

v.

CALIFORNIA COASTAL COMMISSION,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S221980
SUPREME COURT

FILED

JUN - 8 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

Fourth Appellate District, Case No. D064120 San Diego Superior Court, Case No. 37-2011-00058666-CU-WM-NC Earl H. Maas III, Judge

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

above, the Commission properly found the 20-year authorization period was necessary to conform to the local coastal program.

Plaintiffs do not address the local coastal program policies, much less meet their burden of demonstrating that these policies prevent the Commission from limiting duration of a seawall. By failing to address the local coastal program policies, Plaintiffs have waived any argument that substantial evidence does not support the Commission's decision that the conditions were required to conform to the local coastal program. (*Tisher v. California Horse Racing Bd.* (1991) 231 Cal.App.3d 349, 361.)

Second, even if section 30235 were the standard, nothing in section 30235 prevents the Commission from limiting the duration of a seawall permit. Section 30235 provides in relevant part that "seawalls . . . and other such construction that alters natural shoreline processes shall be permitted when required to serve coastal-dependent uses or to protect existing structures or public beaches in danger from erosion and when designed to eliminate or mitigate adverse impacts on local shoreline sand supply."

Plaintiffs in essence contend that section 30235 requires the Commission to issue a seawall permit in perpetuity any time there is an existing structure that is currently in danger of erosion – regardless of that structure's expected remaining lifespan and regardless of the seawall's future impacts to the natural shoreline and changes to the seawall's location in relationship to the natural shoreline due to sea level rise. This is not a reasonable construction of section 30235.

"[T]he Commission has broad discretion to adopt measures to mitigate all significant impacts that the construction of the seawall may have." (Ocean Harbor House Homeowners Assn. v. California Coastal Com., supra, 163 Cal.App.4th at 242.) The Commission has the authority to impose "reasonable terms and conditions in order to ensure that the development or action will be in accordance with the provisions of [the

Coastal Act]." (§ 30607.) Plaintiffs admit the Commission has broad discretion to impose conditions to address the full range of impacts that seawalls have on coastal resources. (OB at 25).

Plaintiffs contend that introducing durational limits to permits will destroy the housing industry, but point to no evidence in the record or elsewhere to support this claim. (OB at 28.) In fact, the industry accepts that projects and structures are not permanent; financing based on longterm leases is not uncommon.⁶ And, the Commission's authority to impose time restrictions on seawalls has been upheld. In Barrie v. California Coastal Commission, supra, 196 Cal. App. 3d 8, the court upheld the Commission's requirement that a group of homeowners remove a seawall authorized by an emergency permit within a specified time period. The homeowners spent more than \$300,000 to build a seawall in front of their homes due to forecasted severe storm and high tide predictions. The Commission issued an emergency permit conditioned on the homeowners applying for a regular permit and, if the regular permit was not approved, removal of the seawall within 150 days. (Id. at 15.) When the homeowners applied for a regular permit, the Commission required them to move the seawall ten feet inland. The court upheld the Commission's decision, holding that the homeowners did not have a vested right to continue the seawall at its current location.

Barrie involved an emergency permit, but it nonetheless supports the Commission's authority to balance important and potentially competing private and public interests in imposing conditions. "The Commission . . .

⁶ See Neil S. Hecht, Variable Rental Provisions in Long Term Ground Leases, 72 Columbia L. Rev. 625, 629 (Apr. 1972) ["Rockefeller Plaza, Madison Square Garden, . . . and numerous cooperative residential, and office buildings are modern monuments to the vitality, flexibility, and utility of the long-term ground lease."]

was faced with balancing probabilities – the probability of beach erosion caused or contributed to by the seawall and the probability there will be future storms which will threaten beachfront residences. [The Commission] weighed the need to protect the public beach against the Homeowners' need to protect their homes. The condition requiring relocation of the seawall was a reasonable accommodation of these two needs since it mitigated the negative impact on the beach while still affording the Homeowners the opportunity to protect their homes. Moreover, this accommodation must be viewed in light of another purpose of the Coastal Act, that of insuring public access." (196 Cal.App.3d at 21-22.)

Here, the Commission balanced Plaintiffs' interests and the public's interests. While the Commission approved the seawall to protect Plaintiffs' existing homes, it included a mechanism to protect the public. The condition allows the Commission to require mitigation if sea level rises and the seawall intrudes onto public trust lands or consider removal if Plaintiffs redevelop their properties and no longer need a seawall.

Plaintiffs do not dispute that the seawall will have long-term impacts. Nor do they dispute that the Commission can impose mitigation to address such impacts. In the court of appeal, they conceded that "[t]he Commission could have conditioned the seawall on the owners' agreement to submit a reassessment of mitigation in 20 or 30 years." (Respondents' Brief, Case No. D064120, at 36.) In their opening brief to this Court, they contend such impacts "will be addressed by some different condition." (OB at 27.)

While Plaintiffs might have chosen different conditions to ensure their permit's consistency with the local coastal program and applicable Coastal Act policies, the Legislature delegated implementation of the Coastal Act to the Commission, not private homeowners or the trial courts. (*Charles A. Pratt Constr. Co. v. California Coastal Com., supra,* 162 Cal.App.4th at 1072; *Reddell v. California Coastal Com., supra,* 180 Cal.App.4th at 966-

20

967.) The Commission properly conditioned the seawall to ensure that the Commission can adequately assess the nature and extent of the seawall's impacts in 20 years, given the uncertainties inherent in predicting the seawall's future impacts.

Finally, Plaintiffs argue that the conditions are a pretext to allow the Commission to deny renewal of the seawall if the Legislature or courts change seawall policy. (OB at 26-27.) Plaintiffs' speculation about future legislative or judicial changes is not a valid basis to overturn the Commission's decision. Even assuming the Legislature or courts do change seawall policies, the time to challenge such policies is when they occur, not now. Plaintiffs and all similarly situated property owners will be able to challenge such changes as applied to their property. But the possibility that the Legislature or courts may outlaw seawalls in the future does not justify invalidating the Commission's decision now. (See Section II.B. below.)

Plaintiffs' speculation that the Commission will simply deny the seawall in the future also is belied by the Commission's past permit decisions. The Commission provided after-the-fact approval of Plaintiffs' earlier seawall. (AR 9.) And, here, the Commission approved a seawall spanning both properties even though the record establishes that the Frick home is not currently threatened. (AR 1678.)

B. Limiting the Duration of a Permit Does Not Violate the Takings Clause

Plaintiffs contend that special conditions 2 and 3, addressing the permit's duration and renewal process, are regulatory takings. (OB at 29-34.) They argue that under the *Nollan/Dolan* line of cases (*Nollan v. California Coastal Com., supra,* 483 U.S. 825; *Dolan v. City of Tigard* (1994) 512 U.S. 374), the 20-year authorization period must be roughly proportional to the seawall's impacts. (OB at 29-32.) They further argue that, because the Commission cannot currently identify and quantify the

seawall's future impacts, this proves there is no rough proportionality. These arguments fail for three reasons.

First, the Commission's decision merely requires Plaintiffs to apply for an amendment to reauthorize the seawall. Requiring a permit for a use of property is not a taking. (*United States v. Riverside Bayview Homes* (1985) 474 U.S. 121, 127.)

permit condition. This line of cases applies only when a government entity requires the dedication of an interest in land or imposes an ad hoc monetary exaction. (*Lingle v. Chevron U.S.A., Inc.* (2005) 544 U.S. 528, 546; *Koontz v. St. Johns River Water Management Dist.* (2013) 133 S.Ct. 2586; *Ehrlich v. City of Culver City* (1996) 12 Cal.4th 854, 881.) The Commission did not require Plaintiffs to dedicate a portion of their property to public use; the Commission did impose an ad hoc fee to offset the seawall's impacts, but Plaintiffs do not argue the fee violates the *Nollan/Dolan* test. The *Nollan/Dolan* test and heightened scrutiny do not apply to the Commission's 20-year authorization period.

Third, even assuming the *Nollan/Dolan* test applied, the conditions easily satisfy the requirements. "It is beyond dispute that California has a legitimate interest in protecting and maintaining its beaches as recreational resources." (*Ocean Harbor House Homeowners Assn. v. California Coastal Com., supra,* 163 Cal.App.4th at 231.) "[T]he Commission has broad discretion to adopt measures designed to mitigate all significant impacts that the construction of a seawall may have." (*Id.* at 242.)

The Commission found that the 20-year authorization period was needed to ensure that the seawall was consistent with the local coastal program and applicable Coastal Act provisions and to ensure that its impacts would be fully mitigated if the seawall remains beyond 20 years. As the Commission explained in its findings, the Commission mitigated the

seawall's current impacts, but the seawall's impacts may be far different in 20 years than they are now, particularly given the uncertainties related to sea level rise. Plaintiffs themselves recognize that the seawall will have ongoing impacts and suggested that the Commission include a condition requiring them to revisit mitigation at intervals rather than having a set authorization period. (RT at 5-6.)

Ignoring the long-term impacts the seawall will have on the public beach and neighboring properties, Plaintiffs focus on the Commission's alleged agenda to deny the seawall in 20 years. (OB at 32.) Plaintiffs speculate regarding what the Legislature, the courts, or the Commission may do in the future. (JA 204.) Allegations that the Commission has violated their constitutional rights must rest on more than speculation that the Legislature or courts will adopt policies outlawing seawalls and speculation that the Commission will deny renewal of the seawall based on such future speculative policy changes. Moreover, such claims are not ripe. (Williamson County Reg. Planning Com. v. Hamilton Bank (1985) 473 U.S. 172, 186 ["[A] claim that the application of governmental regulations effects a taking of a property interest is not ripe until the government entity charged with implementing the regulations to the property at issue."])

Even assuming that the Legislature or the courts might change the law regarding seawalls at some point in the next 20 years and, based on such speculative change, the Commission might deny their reauthorization request in 20 years, that bare possibility does not establish a taking today. Plaintiffs would be in the same position as other similarly situated property owners. Plaintiffs and those similarly situated property owners would have an opportunity to challenge Commission permit denials based on those policy changes.

The Commission approved Plaintiffs' seawall for at least 20 years. The \$500,000 that Plaintiffs estimated each would pay for the seawall will be amortized over at least 20 years. The 20-year authorization period is reasonable as Plaintiffs will likely need to repair, replace, or augment the seawall in 20 years. (AR 1710, 1706.)

Contrary to Plaintiffs' contention, government is allowed to change zoning, update allowable land uses, and phase out nonconforming uses. (Metromedia, Inc. v. City of San Diego (1981) 26 Cal.3d 848, judgment reversed on other grounds Metromedia, Inc. v. City of San Diego (1981) 453 U.S. 490 [upholding an ordinance providing for the eventual elimination of commercial billboards but reversing and remanding because ordinance extended to noncommercial protected speech]; National Advertising Co. v. County of Monterey (1970) 1 Cal.3d 875; Livingston Rock etc. Co. v. County of Los Angeles (1954) 43 Cal.2d 121,127. In Livingston Rock etc. Co, the county allowed plaintiffs to continue their nonconforming use of the property for 20 years, subject to revocation where it could be done without the impairment of "constitutional rights." This Court held: "Manifestly, care has been taken in such rezoning regulations to refrain from the interference with constitutional guarantees, and in the light of such express language it would be a contradiction in terms to hold that the regulations are nevertheless unconstitutional." (43 Cal.2d at 127, citations omitted.)

- III. THE COMMISSION PROPERLY DENIED RECONSTRUCTION OF THE STAIRWAY
 - A. Neither the Coastal Act nor the City's Local Coastal Program Exempts the Stairway from Permit Requirements

Plaintiffs contend that the Coastal Act contains a blanket exemption from permit requirements for any structure destroyed by disaster, and the Commission, therefore, was required to allow them to reconstruct the lower portion of their private beach access stairway. (OB at 34-35, citing § 30610, subd. (g)(1).) Plaintiffs ignore a key provision in section 30610, subdivision (g), which provides in relevant part, with emphasis added:

Notwithstanding any other provision of this division, no coastal development permit shall be required pursuant to this chapter for the following types of development and in the following areas: . . .

(g)(1) The replacement of any structure, other than a public works facility, destroyed by a disaster. The replacement structure shall conform to applicable existing zoning requirements, shall be for the same use as the destroyed structure, shall not exceed either the floor area, height, or bulk of the destroyed structure by more than 10 percent, and shall be sited in the same location on the affected property as the destroyed structure.

Because Plaintiffs' proposed stairway did not conform to applicable existing zoning requirements, the Commission found that it fell outside the exemption and required a permit. The Commission also found that it could not approve a permit for the stairway because it did not conform to the City's zoning requirements.

Plaintiffs argue that to the extent the City's local coastal program prohibits the stairway, it is invalid because it conflicts with the Coastal Act. (OB at 35-36.) The argument fails because the City's code does not conflict with the Coastal Act; it mirrors the Coastal Act.

Coastal Act section 30610, subdivision (g)(2) and local coastal program section 30.80.050. E exempt from permit requirements the replacement of a structure other than a public works facility destroyed by disaster. Each contains an exception to the permit exemption. The Coastal Act requires that the replacement structure "conform to applicable existing zoning requirements." (§ 30610, subd. (g)(1).) The City provision requires

that the replacement structure "conform to applicable zoning and development requirements of the City" (AR 869.)

Plaintiffs do not argue that the minor semantic differences are substantive. Instead, they argue that "the *structure itself* must conform to the zoning requirements. This language does not mean that the 'use' must conform to the zoning requirements, rather it is the physical structure that must conform." (OB at 36, italics in original.) But it is the structure that fails to conform to the City's zoning requirements. The City's local zoning requirements prohibit new private stairways on the bluff face. (See Section III.B below.)

Even if the City's local coastal program were stricter than the Coastal Act, it would not be invalid. The Coastal Act does not limit "the power of a city . . . to adopt and enforce additional regulations, not in conflict with this act, imposing further conditions, restrictions, or limitations with respect to any land or water use or other activity which might adversely affect the resources of the coastal zone." (§ 30005.)

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